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SOYBEAN PEPTIDE AND YOUR HEALTH

Ditang:

Good news for Type II
diabetes sufferers

+

INSIDE

Benefits of SPI
New Products
Our Marketing Strategy
Who we are

“The vast lands of all natural goodness”

High-quality. All-natural.
Non-genetically modified soybeans.
Our plants are strategically located at Heilongjiang Province where there’s easy
access to an abundant supply of high quality non-genetically modified soybeans.
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Does your food
have all natural, 90%
pure soy protein?
Soy Protein Isolates (SPI)
SPI improves the texture and nutritional value of foods. It also stabilises emulsions and aid in the absorption of
water and fat.

So check your dairy foods, nutritional supplements, seafood,
processed meat, nutritional beverages, cream soups, sauces
and snacks.

EDITOR’S LETTER

On behalf of the Board of
Directors, I am pleased to present
to you Pine Agritech Limited’s
(“Pine” or the “Group”) annual
report for the financial year
ended 31 December 2008
(“FY2008”).

FY2008 In Review
2008 was challenging for the Group as we sought to overcome the
challenges posed by both the wider economic environment and
the operating environment we are in. While the Group reported
significantly lower sales of its soy oligosaccharide syrup (“SOS”)
product compared to the preceding year, sales of other products
like soy protein isolates (“SPI”), soybean oil as well as the new
Tineng brand peptide have been encouraging.
Soybean cost which rose sharply in 2007 showed a
stabilising trend and a gradual decline towards the end of
FY2008. Pork prices which had also been on the rise in
2007 decreased gradually in the period under review and the
stabilising demand situation for SPI amongst domestic meat
products manufacturers in the PRC resulted from an improved
pig supply situation overall.
Financial Performance
The challenging business environment continued from 2007 into
2008. In FY2008, the Group focused on preserving its business
and financial fundamentals, despite the lower revenue and profit
levels.
The Group’s FY2008 revenue declined 11.1% from RMB1,619.6
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million to RMB1,439.2 million year-on-year. This was the result
of higher sales in SPI, soybean oil, peptide and other by-products
which were offset by the lower sales recorded for SOS.
Aside from the lower sales of our high-margined SOS product,
higher soybean cost also added pressure to our gross margin.
Soybean cost rose from an average price of RMB3.23/kg in FY2007
to an average price of RMB3.90/kg in FY2008. A lower net profit
of RMB182.8 million in FY2008 was reported, compared to
RMB435.5 million in FY2007.
Segmental Product Performance in
FY2008
Let me review our segmental product performance. SPI sales
climbed 13.6% from RMB734.4 million in FY2007 to RMB834.1
million in FY2008, largely due to the steady increase in export
sales to Eastern Europe and South East Asian countries and the
stabilising demand situation for SPI amongst the PRC meat
products manufacturers. Soybean oil sales also rose 25.6% from
RMB220.7 million to RMB277.3 million year-on-year, due to a
rise in the average selling price of the soybean oil. Sales of the new
Tineng brand peptide, launched in September 2007, provided a
full year contribution of RMB31.6 million in sales, compared to
RMB24.9 million in FY2007.

SOS sales declined significantly from RMB580.5 million in
FY2007 to RMB156.8 million in FY2008. After the termination
of our master distribution contract with Shenji in February
2008, we took on our own direct distribution efforts, including
distributing to supermarket chains in the PRC. We have been and
will continue to monitor SOS sales performance regularly.
Preserving Our Financial and Business
Fundamentals
Our balance sheet has remained healthy in FY2008. The Group’s
cash and bank balances stood at RMB2.56 billion as at 31
December 2008 compared to RMB2.37 billion the year before.
Trade receivables decreased by RMB26.9 million from RMB35.8
million in FY2007 to RMB8.9 million in FY2008, which was
attributable to the overall improvement in the monitoring and
collection of outstanding receivables. Inventories, on the other

expected to rebound quickly, as discretionary spending on health
promoting products such as SOS tend to be reduced in times of
economic uncertainties.
Tineng soybean peptide and Ditang health product are also not
expected to experience a quick upsurge in demand as these products
are still new in the market place and more enhancements would
have to be made to the products in order to raise the acceptance
level amongst target customer groups.
Stringent control will be exercised over both direct and indirect
costs, and non-essential expenditure will be kept to a minimum
whilst operating expenses will keep pace with revenue performance.
The Group’s priority will be to strengthen balance sheet, preserve
cash and improve cash flow in this tough economic climate.

SPI sales climbed 13.6% from RMB734.4 million in FY2007
to RMB834.1 million in FY2008, largely due to the steady
increase in export sales to Eastern Europe and South East Asian
countries and the stabilising demand situation for SPI amongst
the PRC meat products manufacturers.
hand, climbed marginally from RMB252.5 million to RMB283.7
million in FY2008 due to higher soybean stock levels as at 31
December 2008.
As at 31 December 2008, net cash generated from operating
activities amounted to RMB279.5 million, compared to RMB593.9
million as at 31 December 2007.
The Year Ahead
The current uncertainty surrounding the global economy will
inevitably bring about conservative consumer sentiment and result
in tightened consumer spending. The PRC government stimulus
package and incentive measures, if tailored accordingly, are
expected to lift sentiments and help to achieve the desired effect of
spurring domestic consumption.

In Appreciation
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere
appreciation to the management and staff for their unwavering
dedication which has seen the Group through this difficult period
of time.
I wish to also thank our shareholders, business associates, partners
and the Board for extending their continued support to the Group.
And it is with this encouragement that we march forward together
as a Group to face the challenges and opportunities in the new
year ahead.

Li Zhuping
Chief Executive Officer

Segmental outlook, however, varies amongst the different products.
Sales of SPI are expected to remain steady, as domestic demand
should be sufficiently robust and that will mitigate reductions in
overseas or export sales. Sales of SOS, on the other hand, are not
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operational
review

an in-depth

look
into
PINE AGRITECH
T

he Group’s revenue decreased
by 11.1% from RMB1,619.6
million
in
FY2007
to
RMB1,439.2 million in FY2008, while
gross profit declined 47.5% year-on-year
from RMB652.9 million to RMB342.9
million. Net profit for FY2008 totalled
RMB182.8
million
compared
to
RMB435.5 million reported in FY2007.

with an improved pig supply situation
led to a stabilising demand situation for
SPI amongst domestic meat products
manufacturers in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). The Group also
raised the average selling prices to partially
reflect the higher soybean price in FY2008
compared to the soybean price recorded in
FY2007.

Segmental Performance
Sales of SPI increased by 13.6% to
RMB834.1 million in FY2008 from
RMB734.4 million in FY2007, with the
increase in export sales to Eastern Europe
and South East Asia countries. The
gradual decrease in pork prices coupled

An increase in demand for soybean oil along
with the higher average selling prices led to a
25.6% increase in revenue from RMB220.7
million to RMB277.3 million year-on-year.

Sales of SOS continued to decline from
PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008
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million in FY2008, compared to its RMB24.9 million
contribution to the Group’s revenue in FY2007.
Overall, the higher sales in SPI, soybean oil, peptide and
other by-products offset the lower sales in SOS, which
caused a 11.1% decline in the Group’s FY2008 revenue,
from RMB1619.6 million in FY2007 to RMB1439.2
million in FY2008.
Gross Margin
Soybean price rose from an average price of RMB3.23/
kg in FY2007 to an average price of RMB3.90/kg in
FY2008, and the hike in price contributed partially
to the decline in the overall gross profit margin. The
lower sales contribution of the high-margined SOS
also affected our gross margin. Gross profit for the year
under review decreased 47.5% from RMB652.9 million
to RMB342.9 million, while overall gross margin
slipped from 40.3% to 23.8% year-on-year.

FY2007. The fewer orders from our customers brought
about a lower revenue contribution of RMB156.8
million in FY2008, which represented a decrease of
RMB423.6 million. The Group had in late February
2008 terminated its master distributor contract with
Shenji due to the latter’s inability to meet its minimum
order guarantee.
The new Tineng brand peptide, launched in September
2007, also provided a full-year contribution of RMB31.6

Advertising and Promotion
The Group had in FY2007 announced plans to
increase market awareness and build upon the brand
equity of our SOS and new products – Tineng soybean
peptide and Ditang health product. However, we had
since scaled back on our advertising and promotional
activities in view of the slowdown in SOS sales. Selling
and distribution expenses, as a result, decreased 31.1%
to RMB49.8 million in FY2008.
The Group continued to monitor sales performance
of SOS, Tineng and Ditang as well as established
alternative sales channels for this product in FY2008.

2007

2008

%Chg

Soy protein Isolates

734.4

834.1

13.6

Soybean Oil

220.7

277.3

25.6

580.5

156.8

(73.0)

24.9

31.6

26.9

REVENUE RMB’million

Financial
Highlights

Soy Oligosaccharide Syrup
Peptide
By-Products
Total
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59.1

139.4

135.9

1,619.6

1,439.2

(11.1)

This included working with supermarket chain stores
to carry SOS products. For Ditang, for example, the
Group had been working with pharmacies and hospitals
to explore the use of both products as nutraceutical
products suitable for patients with Type II diabetes.
Review of Financial Position
The Group’s net tangible assets as at 31 December
2008 amounted to RMB1,835.5 million compared
to RMB1,679.7 million as at 31 December 2007,
representing an increase of 9.3%.

The Group’s cash position ended higher at RMB2.56
billion as at 31 December 2008 compared to RMB2.37
billion as at 31 December 2007.
Risk Management
Although the Board does not have a risk management
committee, the management reviews the Company’s
business and operational activities on a regular basis
to identify areas of business risks as well as appropriate
control measures to mitigate these risks. Any significant
matters detected by the management are reported to the
Directors.

We incurred capital expenditure of RMB82.5 million
in total for FY2008, which represented our continuous
investment in constructing a new fully-integrated
production plant that is capable of manufacturing SPI,
SOS and soybean peptide.
Inventories increased from RMB252.5 million in
FY2007 to RMB283.7 million in FY2008, where the
slowdown in inventory turnover was due to the global
economic downturn towards the end of FY2008.
Trade receivables decreased by RMB26.9 million from
RMB35.8 million in FY2007 to RMB8.9 million
in FY2008, which was attributable to the overall
improvement in the monitoring and collection of
outstanding receivables. In addition, trade receivables
also decreased due to the slow down of orders taken
up by our ex-master distributor for SOS in the second
quarter of FY2008. Credit terms for 60 days were offered
to the ex-master distributor while the remaining trade
debtors were generally required to pay before delivery.

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008
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nature’s
smart
solution
to ageing

Soybean was a crucial crop in eastern Asia long before written records.
Since 5,000 years ago, soybean has been used as a source of food and
a component of drugs in China. Today, soybean is one of the primary
ingredients in many processed foods, including dairy product substitutes
– Soy protein is a nutritional alternative for those who have trouble in
digesting milk and dairy products.
Soy product is also one of the main ingredients in many meat and dairy substitutes – Soy contains a higher
quality protein than other plant foods, making it an excellent meat-free alternative. Soybean is used to make soy
sauce, and the oil is used in many industrial applications.
Soy is widely known to be a good source of protein as it contains significant amounts of all the essential
amino acids for humans.
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Go natural for healthy living
>> Soy protein isolates are derived from removing the majority of nonprotein components
from soybean and contain not less than 90% pure soy protein. Soy protein isolates are
manufactured from defatted soy flakes and when used as an ingredient in food products, they
improve the texture and nutritional value of foods. Soy protein isolates also stabilise emulsions
and aid in the absorption of water and fat.
Soy protein isolates are used as an ingredient in the manufacture of a wide variety of food
products such as dairy foods, nutritional supplements, seafood, processed meat, frozen food,
nutritional beverages, cream soups, sauces and snacks. Currently, this product is sold mainly
to processed meat manufacturers.
>> Soy oligosaccharide syrup is manufactured from soybean whey, a by-product from the
production of soy protein isolates. Soy oligosaccharide syrup is a prebiotic that when ingested,
selectively stimulates the growth of favourable bifido bacteria in the intestines and colon so
as to improve digestion. Pine Agritech is one of the few companies in the PRC which has
successfully adopted membrane separation technology and has the capital funding to support
the commercial production of soy oligosaccharide syrup. The Ministry of Health of the PRC has
approved its soy oligosaccharide syrup as a health-care food product. Its soy oligosaccharide
syrup is also qualified for export as it has been registered with the State Certification and
Accreditation Administration.
Soy oligosaccharide syrup is sold to distributors for retail sales and operators of small retail
outlets. Since 1 July 2004, the Group has also been selling the soy oligosaccharide syrup to
beverage manufacturers as an ingredient in its manufacturing process.
>> Soybean oil is obtained from the extraction of oils during the manufacturing process
of defatted soy flakes. Soybean oil contains vitamins A and D and various unsaturated fatty
acids that are essential to the human body, making it an ideal high nutritional food product.
Manufacturers of refined oils buy soybean oil from the Group for further processing into higher
grade oil and it is also sold to small retailers.
>> Soybean peptide is extracted from soy protein isolates. It is composed of 2 to 6 amino
acids and can be easily absorbed by human body as compared to protein. Independent reports
have highlighted numerous potential health benefits of soybean peptide such as rapid recovery
of energy, improving memory and boosting immune system.
Soybean peptide has strong growth potential due to its broad application in F&B markets.
Products such as liquid-milk, beer, snacks, soft drinks and coffee containing peptide had been
successfully developed and marketed in Japan, Europe and the USA. Since early 2006, the
Group has been selling peptide under our own brand 提能™.
>> Ditang is the latest health product launched by the Group in September 2007. Derived from
continuous research and high technological production, Ditang’s main ingredients include soy
oligosaccharide syrup, soybean peptide and tea leaf extract. Ditang is not genetically modified
and does not contain chemicals, hence its natural qualities.
The Group has collaborated with several hospitals in the PRC, with Ditang particularly targeted
at consumers suffering from Type II diabetes, where the body does not produce enough insulin
or when the cells ignore the insulin.

the board
of directors

SPECIAL FEATURE
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Mr Ming Kam Sing

Mr Li Zhuping

Non-Executive Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Mr Ming Kam Sing was appointed as the
Non-Executive Chairman on 23 March
2005. Mr Ming is appointed to the board
of the Company as nominee director of
People’s Food Holdings Limited (“PFH”).
He is the Chairman and Executive Director
of PFH. Mr Ming has over 21 years of
experience in the health and medical
industry. From 1981 to 1993, he served as
a doctor in the Beijing Medical University
Hospital and then the Xiehe Hospital. In
1993, he started his own business dealing
with the sale of medical equipment and
soon after, he founded the PFH group
together with other partners in 1994.
Since 2002, he has been the Chairman and
Executive Director of PFH. He graduated
from the Shandong Medical College, PRC
in 1981 with a degree in Medicine.

Mr Li Zhuping was appointed as the
Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer on 15 September 2004. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall
production and management. From 1996
to 1997, Mr Li worked as a Technical
Supervisor at the Guizhou Soybean
Food Processing Co., Ltd., a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing
of soybean-based products. Subsequently,
from 1997 to 2001, he was involved in
the business of soybean-based products.
Mr Li was the General Manager of Linyi
Yikang Soybean Protein Processing Plant
from 2001 till 2002 when he became
the Assistant General Manager of Linyi
Shansong Biological Products Co., Ltd.
(“LSBP”). In 2003, Mr Li was promoted to
the position of General Manager of LSBP.
He graduated from Hunan Zhongnanlin
Institution with a Bachelor of Science in
1996.

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

Mr Zhou Yan’An

Mr Chan Wai Meng

Mr Ong Tiong Seng

Executive Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

Mr Zhou Yan’An was appointed as the
Executive Director on 13 December 2006.
Mr Zhou joined Pine Agritech in 2003 and
is responsible for managerial functions
and assists the Chief Executive Officer
on management and company strategies.
Mr Zhou started his career in 2000 as
a teacher at Luhua Secondary School.
Subsequently in 2001, he became a trainer
in Tianjin Trading Co., Ltd., responsible
for conducting internal training for the
employees. In 2000, he graduated from
the Tianjin Normal University with a
Bachelor of Science. In 2003, he obtained
a Master in Science from the University of
Sussex in the United Kingdom.

Mr Chan Wai Meng was appointed as
an Independent Director on 23 March
2005. He has more than 25 years of
experience in finance, corporate planning,
investment, sales and marketing. Mr Chan
has worked in various managerial and
financial positions in a public accounting
firm, a financial institution, an electronic
manufacturing company, a government
lottery company and a charitable
welfare organisation. Mr Chan holds a
Bachelor degree in Accountancy from the
University of Singapore, and has been a
member of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore for more than
20 years.

Mr Ong Tiong Seng was appointed as
an Independent Director on 23 March
2005. Mr Ong is currently the Chairman
of Cogent Financial Group (HK) Limited,
an investment fund company. He is also
the Vice Chairman of Provenance Capital
Pte Ltd, an investment banking business.
Prior to joining the private sector, Mr Ong
worked with the Economic Development
Board of Singapore. Mr Ong graduated
with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree
(Banking and Finance) from University
of Canberra in 1992 and a Master of
Economics Degree from Macquarie
University, Australia in 1993.
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SHAPE YOUR LIFE

tips for a healthy life
What can all natural soy give your
child?
>> better health

All natural soy boosts your child’s
immune system, so he/she is better
protected from common colds, flues
and illnesses.
>> A happier disposition

With the rapid energy recovery
natural soy promotes, your child will
always have the energy that he/she
needs for playing and learning.
>> better learning

Because natural soy improves the
memory, your child can absorb more
of what he learns better.

soybean q+a

Q

WHICH PRODUCT WORKS FOR YOU

What is Soy
Oligosaccharide
Syrup (SOS)?

Soy oligosaccharide syrup (SOS) is a
by-product from the production of soy
protein isolates. It is a prebiotic that
when ingested, stimulates the growth of
favourable bifido bacteria in the intestines
and colon, thereby improving digestion.
Because of its digestion improving
properties, the Ministry of Health of the
PRC has approved SOS as a healthcare
food product.
So improve your digestion by taking SOS!
Soy oligosaccharide syrup Tiansong is
available in supermarket chain stores.
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The all natural energy booster!

Tineng Soybean Peptide promotes rapid energy recovery, improves memory and boosts the body’s immune system.

SUCCESS STORIES

management team
THE PEOPLE BEHIND PINE AGRITECH
Ms Chan Oi Chong
The Group’s Financial Controller and Company
Secretary, joined the Group in September 2007. She
is responsible for the financial reporting and company
secretarial matters of the Group. She has around 9 years
of experience in audit. She holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration (Financial Accounting) from
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
She is also an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified
Public Accountant.
Mr Meng Fanqi
The Group’s Vice President (Finance & Administration),
has been with Pine Agritech since 2002. He is
responsible for the Group’s accounting and financial
matters. Before Mr Meng joined the Group, he started
his career at the Linyi Chashan Plant as a Supervisor
and was responsible for the financial matters of the
company from 1986 to 1992. Thereafter in 1992, he
was the Supervisor at the Bancheng Town Economic
Committee. Mr Meng was subsequently promoted to
the Finance Manager of Bancheng Town Economic
Committee in 1993 and continued his services there
till 2002. In 2002, he was the Finance Manager of
LSBP. He obtained his Diploma in Accounting from
the Shandong Economics in 1986.
Mr Zhang Jichuan
The Group’s Vice President (Research & Development)
joined Pine Agritech in 2004. He is responsible for
the research and development department of the
Group. In 1996, Mr Zhang was the Assistant Technical
Supervisor of Guizhou Dadou Food Processing Plant
and was subsequently promoted to the Technical
Supervisor in 1997. In 2001, he became the Research
and Development Manager of Linyi Yikang. Thereafter,
he was the Research and Development Manager at
LSBP from 2002 to 2004. He graduated from Hunan
Zhongnanlin Institution in 1996, where he obtained a
Bachelor of Science.
16
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Mr Bao Shouhui
The Group’s Vice President (Purchasing), joined
Pine Agritech since 2003. Mr Bao is responsible for
overseeing the purchasing functions of the Group such as
procurement of raw materials from third party suppliers
and to ensure that such raw materials comply with the
Group’s quality standards. Prior to joining the Group,
he has five years experience as an Assistant Purchasing
Manager in Jingwei Protein Plant, a company that
was principally involved in the production and sale of
soy protein isolates. He joined Linyi Yikang in 2001
as the Assistant Purchasing Manager. Subsequently
in 2002, he joined Shansong Bio-Engineering where
he was the Purchasing Manager, responsible for the
purchasing functions of the company. In 2003, he
was the Purchasing Manager at LSBP. He obtained
his Diploma in Economics Management from the
Shandong University in 1996.
Mr Zhang Qingping
The Group’s Vice President (Sale and Marketing) has
been with Pine Agritech since 2002. He is responsible
for the sales and marketing of the Group. In 1980, Mr
Zhang served in the armed forces of Shandong for a
period of five years. In 1986, he joined Shandong Sanwei

Oil Processing Co., Ltd. as an executive in the sales and
marketing department and continued working there for
two years. Subsequently in 1988, he was promoted to
the Sales and Marketing Manager of Shandong Sanwei
Oil Processing Co., Ltd. till 2002. From 2002 to 2004,
Mr Zhang was the Manager of the Sales Department of
Linyi Shansong Biological Products Co., Ltd. (“LSBP”).
He graduated with a Diploma in Marketing from the
Shandong Economic Institution where he studied from
the period of 1985 to 1987.
Mr Li Ying
The Group’s Vice President (Production), has been
with Pine Agritech since 2004. He is responsible for
the overall production matters at Group’s Daqing
branch. Mr Li has more than 40 years experience in
management. In 1964, he was a Supervisor at the
Daqing Commodity Provision Bureau. From 1981
to 1989, he was the Assistant Manager in Daqing
Petroleum Management Co., Ltd. From 1989 to 1998,
he was the Assistant General Manager at the Daqing
Trading Co., Ltd.. From 1999 to 2002, he was the
General Manager of Daqing Economy & Trading Group
Co., Ltd.. In 2002, Mr Li was the Director and General
Manager of Daqing Xinyu Food Co., Ltd.. He obtained
his Diploma in Management from Daqing Petroleum
Institution in 1983.
Mr Zhang Youyun
The Group’s Vice President (Production) joined Pine
Agritech since 2002. He is responsible for the overall
production matters at the Group’s Linyi branch. He has
over 20 years of experience in production management.
He started working as a Technician in 1980 at the
Shandong Jinan Shi Jichuang Plant and worked there
for 18 years. From 1998 to 2002, Mr Zhang became the
Supervisor at Shandong Sanwei Oil Group Co., Ltd.
and in 2002, he joined LSBP as a Production Manager.
He graduated from Shandong Economics Institution
with a Diploma in Economics in 1980.

Eating natural is
the way to go to
keep you healthy
and feeling good.
That’s why we
only pick nature’s
finest for you.

It’s only natural.

Pine Agritech Limited
Producers and manufacturers of high-quality, nongenetically modified, all natural soybeans.

Bancheng Town
Lanshan District, Linyi City
Shandong Province
People’s Republic of China,
276036

Tel. (86) 539 297 7593
Fax. (86) 539 297 7259
www.pineagritechlimited.com
Company Registration No. 35792

BLOG SPOT

CAN SOY
REALLY
MAKE YOU
HEALTHIER

?

The increasing popularity of soya foods is mainly attributed
to well recognised health benefits which are associated with
the regular consumption of soya beans. The role of soya in
the prevention of chronic diseases continues to be a topic of
interest for scientists around the world.
Research suggests that intake of soy protein may ...
•

Reduce the risk of coronary heart disease

•

Improve vascular reactivitiy

•

•

•

•
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•

Help lower the number and lessen the severity of
hot flashes in some peri-menopausal women

•

Influence insulin activity in the body

•

Reduce mental fatigue

•

Help protect against cholesterol deposits

•

Help prevent gall stones

•

Help heal bed sores and persistent diaper rash

Be linked to lower incidences of breast, prostate,
and colon cancers

•

Be conducive to healthy skin

Inhibit tumour development

•

Help increase overall immunity

Reduce several chronic complications associated
with diabetes, including cardiovascular disease
and high blood pressure
Have a lower incidence of hip fractures compared
to populations consuming protein primarily from
animal sources
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pine Agritech Limited (the “Company”) is committed to ensuring and maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within the Group. Good corporate governance establishes and maintains a legal and
ethical environment, which helps to preserve and enhance the interests of all shareholders.
This report describes the corporate governance framework and practices of the Company with specific
reference to the principles of the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance introduced in April 2001 and
amended in 2005 (the “2005 Code”).
This Report should be read as a whole, instead of being read separately under the different principles of the
2005 Code.

(A)

BOARD MATTERS
Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 1 : Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the
company.
Role of the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
The Board assumes responsibility for stewardship of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
and is primarily responsible for the protection and enhancement of long-term value and returns for
the shareholders. It supervises the management of the business and affairs of the Group, provides
corporate direction, monitors managerial performance and reviews financial results of the Group. In
addition, the Board is directly responsible for decision making in respect of the following matters:
a.

approve the business strategies including significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries or
assets and liabilities;

b.

approve the annual budgets, major funding proposals, significant capital expenditures and
investment and divestment proposals;

c.

approve the release of the Group’s quarterly and full year’s financial results and interested
person transactions;

d.

oversee the processes for risk management, financial reporting and compliance and evaluate
the adequacy of internal controls, as may be recommended by the Audit Committee;

e.

review the performance of Management, approve the nominates to the Board of Directors and
appointment of key executives, as may be recommended by the Nominating Committee;

f.

review and endorse the framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives, as may
be recommended by the Remuneration Committee; and

g.

corporate policies in keeping with good corporate governance and business practice.

The Board provides shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects on a quarterly basis.
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To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a number of Board
committees which include an Audit Committee (“AC”), a Nominating Committee (“NC”) and a
Remuneration Committee (“RC”), each of which functions within clearly defined terms of reference
and operating procedures which are reviewed on a regular basis.
Board Meetings and Meetings of Board Committees
The Board meets on a quarterly basis and whenever necessary for the discharge of their duties.
Dates of the Board meetings are normally set by the directors well in advance. Meetings of the
Board and Board Committees may be conducted by way of telephone and video conferencing if
necessary.
The number of meetings held by the Board and Board committees and attendance thereat during
the past financial year are as follows:

DIRECTORS

BOARD
AC
RC
NC
No. of
No. of
No. of
No. of
meetings Attended meetings Attended meetings Attended meetings Attended

Ming Kam Sing

4

4

4

4

4

4

–

–

Li Zhuping

4

4

–

–

–

–

1

1

Zhou Yan’An

4

4

–

–

–

–

–

–

Chan Wai Meng

4

4

4

4

4

4

1

1

Ong Tiong Seng

4

4

4

4

4

4

1

1

Training
The Board will constantly examine its size and, with a view to determining the impact of its number
upon effectiveness, decide on what it considers an appropriate size for itself. The composition of the
Board will be reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
mix of expertise and experience.
All directors have many years of corporate experience and are familiar with their duties and
responsibilities as directors. Newly appointed directors will be briefed by the Chief Executive Officer
and/or top management of the Company on the business activities of the Group and its strategic
directions, as well as their duties and responsibilities as directors. The directors are also briefed by
professionals either during Board meetings or at separate meetings on regulatory changes which
have an important bearing on the Company and the directors’ obligations to the Company.
The Company welcomes Directors to seek explanations or clarifications from and/or convene informal
discussions with the Management on any aspect of the Group’s operations or business. Necessary
arrangements will be made for the informal discussions or explanations as and when required.
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Board Composition and Balance
Principle 2 : There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to
exercise objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management.
No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision
making.
The Board consists of five (5) directors of whom two (2) are independent. The list of directors is as
follows:
Executive Directors
Li Zhuping
Zhou Yan’An

(Chief Executive Officer)
(Executive Director)

Non-Executive Directors
Ming Kam Sing
Chan Wai Meng
Ong Tiong Seng

(Non Independent)
(Independent)
(Independent)

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to time by the NC to ensure that
the size of the Board is conducive to effective discussions and decision making and which is of the
view that the current Board size of five (5) directors of which two (2) are independent directors, is
appropriate and effective, taking into account the nature and scope of the Company’s operations.
The current Board comprises persons with diverse expertise and experience in accounting, business
and management, finance and risk management who as a group provide core competencies
necessary to meet the Company’s requirements. The directors’ objective judgement on corporate
affairs and collective experience and knowledge are invaluable to the Group and allows for the useful
exchange of ideas and views.
Independence of directors
The NC reviews the independence of each director on an annual basis based on the Code’s definition
of what constitutes an independent director. The NC is of the view that the two (2) independent
directors (who represent more than one-third of the Board) are independent and that there is a strong
and independent element on the Board which is able to exercise objective judgement on corporate
matters independently, in particular, from Management, and that no individual or small group of
individuals dominate the Board’s decision-making process.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Principle 3 : There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the
working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will
ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable
concentration of power.
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Different individuals assume the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”). The Chairman of the Board is Mr Ming Kam Sing. As the Chairman, Mr Ming is
responsible for, among others, the exercise of control over quantity, quality and timeliness of the
flow of information between the management of the Company and the Board. He also schedules
Board meetings, oversees the preparation of the agenda for Board meetings and assists in ensuring
compliance with the Group’s guidelines on corporate governance.
He is assisted by the CEO, Mr Li Zhuping. Mr Li, together with the management comprising
each subsidiary’s general managers and key senior managers, are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group.
The separation of the roles of the Chairman and CEO ensures a balance of power and authority such
that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.
Board Membership
Principle 4 : There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new
directors to the Board. As a principle of good corporate governance, all directors should be
required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals.
The NC was established on 23 March 2005. It is chaired by Mr Ong Tiong Seng (non-executive and
independent director) with the following directors as members:
Li Zhuping
Chan Wai Meng

(non-executive and independent)

The primary functions of the NC are as follows:
to identify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or reappointment of
members of the Board, the CEO of the Group, and to determine the selection criteria therefor;
to ensure that all Board appointees undergo an appropriate induction programme;
to regularly review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to
the Board with regard to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;
to identify gaps in the mix of skills, experience and other qualities required in an effective Board
and to nominate or recommend suitable candidates to fill these gaps;
to decide whether a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as
director of the Company, particularly where the director has multiple board representations;
to review the independence of each director annually;
to decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance
criteria for the Board’s approval; and
to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and assesses the contribution by each
individual director, to the effectiveness of the Board.
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For the year under review, the NC held one (1) meeting.
The directors will submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least
once every three (3) years. Under the Company’s existing Bye-Laws, one-third of the directors
for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. In reviewing and recommending to the Board the
re-nomination and re-election of existing directors, the NC takes into consideration the directors’
contribution and performance at Board meetings, including attendance, preparedness, participation
and candour.
Each member of the NC abstains from making any recommendations and/or participating in any
deliberation of the NC and from voting on any resolution, in respect of the assessment of his own
performance or re-nomination as a director.
The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the directors to the affairs
of the Company and Group, notwithstanding that some of the directors have multiple board
representations.
In its search and nomination process for new directors, the NC has, at its disposal, search
companies, personal contacts and recommendations, to cast its net as wide as possible for the right
candidates.
Key information regarding the directors is set out on pages 12 and 13.
Board Performance
Principle 5 : There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.
The NC reviews the criteria for evaluating the Board’s performance and recommends to the Board
a set of objective performance criteria focusing on enhancing long-term shareholders’ value.
Based on the recommendations of the NC, the Board has established processes for evaluating the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole.
The performance criteria for the Board evaluation includes an evaluation of the size and composition
of the Board, the Board’s access to information, accountability, Board processes, Board performance
in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities, communication with management and
standards of conduct of the directors.
In the course of the year, the NC has assessed the Board through questionnaire, of which were
then collated and the findings were analyzed and discussed with a view to implementing certain
recommendations to further enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
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Access to Infomation
Principle 6 : In order to fulfil their responsibilities, board members should be provided with
complete, adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.
To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, the management provides the Board with a
management report containing complete, adequate and timely information prior to the Board
meetings. All directors have separate and independent access to the management, including the
Company Secretary at all times. The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures
that Board procedures and all other rules and regulations applicable to the Company are complied
with.
Changes to regulations are closely monitored by Management and for changes which have an
important bearing on the Company or the Directors’ disclosure obligations, the Directors are briefed
either during Board meetings.
The directors and the chairmen of the respective committees, whether as a group or individually are
able to seek independent professional advice as and when necessary in furtherance of their duties at
the Company’s expense. The appointment of such professional advisor is subject to approval by the
Board.

(B)

REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 7 : There should be a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration
packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own
remuneration.
The RC was established on 23 March 2005 and for the financial year, the RC comprises of entirely
non-executive directors. It is chaired by Mr Ong Tiong Seng (non-executive and independent), with
Mr Ming Kam Sing (non-executive) and Mr Chan Wai Meng (non-executive and independent) as
members.
The members of the RC have many years of corporate experience and are knowledgeable in the
field of executive compensation. In addition, the RC has access to expert professional advice on
remuneration matters as and when necessary.
The responsibilities of the RC include the following:
to review directors’ fees to ensure that they are at sufficiently competitive levels;
to review and approve any proposal relating to and administer the Company’s Employee Share
Option Scheme (“ESOS”) for directors, senior management and executives;
to review and advise the Board on the terms of appointment and remuneration of its members,
CEO, key executive officers, senior management of the Group and all managerial staff who are
related to any of the directors or the CEO;
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to review the terms of the employment arrangements with management so as to develop
consistent group wide employment practices subject to regional differences;
to recommend to the Board in consultation with senior management and the Chairman of the
Board, any long term incentive scheme; and
to review and approve any proposals or recommendations relating to senior management’s
remuneration.
For the year under review, the RC held four (4) meetings.
The RC reviews all aspects of remuneration and compensation packages including but not limited to
directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind.
No director is involved in determining his own remuneration.
Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 8 : The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the
directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more for
this purpose. A proportion of the remuneration, especially that of executive directors, should be
linked to performance.
In setting remuneration packages, the RC takes into consideration the prevailing economic situation,
the pay and employment conditions within the industry and in comparable companies. As part of
its review, the RC ensures that the performance related elements of remuneration form a significant
part of the total remuneration package of executive directors and is designed to align the directors’
interests with those of shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual performance. The
RC also reviews all matters concerning the remuneration of non-executive directors to ensure that the
remuneration commensurate with the contribution and responsibilities of the directors. The Company
submits the quantum of directors’ fees of each year to the shareholders for approval at each Annual
General Meeting.
Non-executive directors have no service contracts. The executive directors have service contracts
and they do not receive directors’ fees for the year under review.
Long term incentive scheme
The ESOS was implemented in 2005 as a long-term incentive plan for more senior level staff based
on individual performance. It is administered by the RC. Details of the ESOS are set out in the
Directors’ Report on pages 36 and 37. No ESOS option has been issued todate.
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Disclosure on Remuneration
Principle 9 : Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and
mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report.
A breakdown of the remuneration of the directors and the top 7 key executives (who are not also
directors) for the financial year ended 31 December 2008 are set out below:
Remuneration of the directors
Remuneration band and names of directors

Salary (1)

Bonus (1)

Directors’ fees (2)

–

–

100%

Below S$250,000
Ming Kam Sing
Li Zhuping

100%

–

–

Zhou Yan’An

100%

–

–

Chan Wai Meng

–

–

100%

Ong Tiong Seng

–

–

100%

Remuneration of top 7 Key Executives (who are not directors)
Remuneration band and names of key executives (who are not directors)

Below S$250,000

Chan Oi Chong

X

Zhang Qingping

X

Meng Fanqi

X

Zhang Jichuan

X

Bao Shouhui

X

Zhang Youyun

X

Li Ying

X

Notes:
(1)

These are under service agreements. The Remuneration Committee has decided and the Executive Directors have
agreed that in view of the prevailing challenging conditions that no bonus will be awarded to the two Executive
Directors for the current financial year.

(2)

The directors’ fees had been approved at the Company’s Annual General Meeting held in year 2008.

There are no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO
and whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the financial year ended 31 December 2008.
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(C)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability
Principle 10 : The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management is accountable
to the Board.
The Board endeavors to ensure that the annual audited financial statements and quarterly
announcements of the Group’s results present a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s position and prospects. The Board embraces openness and transparency in the conduct
of the Company’s affairs, whilst preserving the commercial interests of the Company. Financial
and other price sensitive information are disseminated to shareholders through announcements via
SGXNET.
Audit Committee
Principle 11 : The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC”) with written terms of
reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.
The AC comprises of entirely non-executive directors, namely, Mr Chan Wai Meng (non-executive
and independent) who also acts as the Chairman, Mr Ming Kam Seng and Mr Ong Tiong Seng
(non-executive and independent). It, inter alia, oversees the quality and integrity of the accounting,
auditing, internal controls and financial practices of the Group.
All members of the AC have many years of experience in senior management positions in both
financial and industrial sectors. The Board is of the view that the AC members, having accounting
and related financial management expertise or experience, are appropriately qualified to discharge
their responsibilities.
During the past financial year, the AC held four (4) meetings with the management and the external
and internal auditors of the Company to discuss and review the following matters:
the audit plans of the external and internal auditors of the Company, and their reports arising
from the audit;
the adequacy of the assistance and cooperation given by the Company's management to the
external and internal auditors;
the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group;
the quarterly and annual announcement of the results of the Group before submission to the
Board for approval;
the adequacy of the Group's internal controls in respect of the management, business and
service systems and practices;
legal and regulatory matters that may have material impact on the financial statements,
compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;
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the cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the external auditors;
the approval of compensation to the external auditors;
the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;
the recommendation to the Board for the appointment or re-appointment of the internal and
external auditors of the Company;
to report actions and minutes of the AC to the Board with such recommendations as the AC
considers appropriate; and
interested person transactions to ensure that the current procedures for monitoring of
interested party transactions have been complied with.
In performing its functions, the AC :
met once with the external auditors and internal auditors, without the presence of the
Company's management and reviewed the overall scope of the external audit, internal audit
and the assistance given by the management to the auditors;
has explicit authority to investigate any matter relating to the Group's accounting, auditing,
internal controls and financial practices brought to its attention with full access to records,
resources and personnel to enable it to discharge its function properly; and
has full access to and cooperation of the management and full discretion to invite any director
or executive officer to attend its meetings.
The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the AC.
The AC has undertaken a review of all the non-audit services provided by the external auditors during
the year under review and is satisfied that such services would not, in the AC’s opinion, affect the
independence of the external auditors. The AC recommends to the Board the re-appointment of
Grant Thornton, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong as the external auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
The Company has a whistle blowing policy which provides well-defined and accessible channels in
the Group through which employees may raise concerns about improper conduct within the Group.
Internal Controls
Principle 12 : The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.
Internal Controls
The Board ensures that the management maintains a sound system of internal controls and effective
risk management policies to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets and
in this regard, is assisted by the AC which conducts the reviews.
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The Company’s internal and external auditors conduct an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and
risk assessment at least annually to ensure the adequacy thereof. This review is conducted by the
Company’s internal auditors and external auditors which presented their findings to the AC. Any
material non-compliance or failures in internal controls and recommendations for improvements are
reported to the AC. The AC also reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by the management
on the recommendations made by the internal and external auditors in this respect.
The AC, with the assistance of the internal and external auditors, have reviewed, and the Board
is satisfied that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls
maintained by the Group’s management throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2008
up to the date of this report is adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current business
environment.
The system of internal control provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group will
not be adversely affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its
business objectives.
However, the Board notes that no system of internal control could provide absolute assurance against
the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or
other irregularities.
Risks arising from the Group’s financial operations are separately discussed in Note 28 to the
Financial Statements on pages 75 to 79.
Internal Audit
Principle 13 : The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the
activities it audits.
Apart from the in-house internal auditors, Wong Lam Leung & Kwok CPA Limited (WLLK”), a
professional accounting firm is also appointed to carry out the internal audit functions. The Group’s
internal auditors and WLLK will also carry out major internal control checks and compliance tests as
instructed by the AC. The AC will review the external and internal auditors’ reports and ensure that
there are adequate internal controls in the Group. WLLK reports to the AC on audit matters and
reports administratively to the CEO. The AC also reviews and approves the annual internal audit
plans and resources to ensure that WLLK has the necessary resources to adequately perform its
functions.
The Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute of Internal Auditors
(“Standards”) are used as a reference and guide by the Company’s internal auditors.
Procedures have been put in place to ensure that all transactions entered into with interested
persons are dealt with on an arm’s length basis. All such transactions are subject to a review by the
Company’s internal auditors to ensure that the procedures adopted are complied with.
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(D)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Communication with Shareholders
Principle 14 : Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with
shareholders.
Principle 15 : Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and
allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the
company.
The Company believes that a high standard of disclosure is key to raising the level of corporate
governance. Accordingly, the Company usually holds analyst briefing of its quarterly results.
Quarterly results are published through the SGXNET, news releases and the Company’s website. All
information of the Company’s new initiatives are first disseminated via SGXNET followed by a news
release, which is also available on the website.
The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Price sensitive information is publicly released
and results and annual reports are announced or issued within the mandatory period and are
available on the Company’s website. All shareholders of the Company receive the annual report and
notice of Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). The notice of AGM is also advertised in the newspaper.
The Company welcomes the views of the shareholders on matters concerning the Company
and encourages shareholders’ participation at AGM. The chairmen of the AC, NC and RC of the
Company are present at the general meetings to answer questions from the shareholders. The
external auditors are also present to assist the directors in addressing any relevant queries by
shareholders.
The Company is not implementing absentia voting methods such as voting via mail, e-mail or fax until
security, integrity and other pertinent issues are satisfactorily resolved.
Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where
appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for
substantially separate issues at the meeting.
The Company Secretary, with the assistance of her representative, prepares minutes of shareholders’
meetings, which incorporates substantial comments or queries from shareholders and responses
from the board and management. These minutes are available to shareholders upon request.

(E)

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
The Company has issued a guideline on share dealings to all directors and employees of the Group
which sets out the code of conduct on transactions in the Company’s shares by these persons, the
implications of insider trading and general guidance on the prohibition against such dealings.
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In line with Listing Rule 1207(18) issued by the SGX-ST, the Company issues a notification to all
officers of the Company informing them that they should not deal in the securities of the Company
during the periods commencing one month before the announcement of the Company’s fullyear results and two weeks before the Company’s quarterly or half-year results until after the
announcement. They are also discouraged from dealing in the Company’s shares on short term
considerations.
The Board confirms that for the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Company has complied
with Listing Rule 1207(18).

(F)

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION
As a listed company on the SGX-ST, the Company is required to comply with Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST on interested person transactions. To ensure compliance with Chapter 9, the
Company has taken the following steps:
The Board meets to review if the Company will be entering into any interested person
transaction. If the Company intends to enter into an interested person transaction, the Board
of Directors will ensure that the Company complies with the requisite rules under Chapter 9.
The AC has met and will meet regularly to review if the Company will be entering into an
interested person transaction, and if so, the AC ensures that the relevant rules under Chapter
9 are complied with.
Interested person transaction carried out during the financial year ended 31 December 2008:

Name of
Interested person
PFH Group (Note 1)

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions during the
financial period under review
(excluding transactions less
than $100,000 and transactions
conducted under Shareholders’
Mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions conducted
under Shareholders’ Mandate
pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding
transactions less than $100,000)

RMB68,943,000 (Note 2)

RMB482,823,000 (Note 3)

Notes:
1.

PFH Group means People’s Food Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries. People’s Food Holdings Limited is one of our
Substantial Shareholders, which indirectly holds approximately 36.75% interests of our Company prior to and after the
Company’s Initial Public Offer.

2.

The amount represents the charges paid to PFH Group for the utility supplies. The charges were made were reference
to the market price.

3.

The amount represents the sales of soy protein isolates to PFH Group.

For more information on the aforesaid interested person transactions, please refer to Note 30 to the
Financial Statements on page 81 of this Annual Report.
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(G)

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed under “Material Contracts” on page 130 of the Prospectus dated 3 May 2005 and
in the Directors’ Report and these financial statements, no material contracts to which the Company
or any subsidiary, is a party and which involve the interests of the chief executive officer, directors or
controlling shareholders, were subsisted at the end of the financial year or entered into since the end
of the previous financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the financial year ended 31 December 2008 and up to the date of this
report are:
Executive Directors
Mr Li Zhuping
Mr Zhou Yan’An
Non-executive Director
Mr Ming Kam Sing
Non-executive Independent Directors
Mr Ong Tiong Seng
Mr Chan Wai Meng
In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Law 104, Mr Zhou Yan’An and Mr Ong Tiong Seng retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Arrangements To Enable Directors To Acquire Shares Or Debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial period was the Company a party to any
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests In Shares Or Debentures
The directors holding office at the end of the financial period and their interests in the share capital and
debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings
kept by the Company are as follows:
Ordinary shares of S$0.02 each of the Company as at 1 January 2008
Name of Director
Mr Ming Kam Sing

Direct Interest

Deemed Interest

–

–

–

329,000,000

Mr Ong Tiong Seng

–

–

Mr Zhou Yan’An

–

–

Mr Chan Wai Meng

–

–

Mr Li Zhuping

(1)
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Ordinary shares of S$0.02 each of the Company as at 31 December 2008
Name of Director
Mr Ming Kam Sing
Mr Li Zhuping

(1)

Direct Interest

Deemed Interest

–

–

–

329,000,000

Mr Zhou Yan’An

–

–

Mr Ong Tiong Seng

–

–

Mr Chan Wai Meng

–

–

Ordinary shares of S$0.02 each of the Company as at 21 January 2009
Name of Director

Direct Interest

Deemed Interest

Mr Ming Kam Sing

–

–

Mr Li Zhuping(1)

–

329,000,000

Mr Zhou Yan’An

–

–

Mr Ong Tiong Seng

–

–

Mr Chan Wai Meng

–

–

Note:
(1)

Elite Union Corporation is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is wholly-owned by Li Zhuping, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Li Zhuping is deemed to have an interest in all the Shares held by Elite Union Corporation.

Directors’ Service Contracts
The Executive Directors, Mr Li Zhuping and Mr Zhou Yan’An have service agreements with the Company.

Options
The Company implemented the Pine Agritech Employee Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS Scheme”) for
eligible employees. The ESOS Scheme was approved by shareholders of the Company on 23 March 2005.
The ESOS Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee whose members are:
Mr Ong Tiong Seng – Chairman
Mr Chan Wai Meng
Mr Ming Kam Sing
The Reumneration Committee comprises directors who may be participants of the ESOS Scheme. A
member of the Remuneration Committee who is a participant of the ESOS Scheme is prohibited from being
involved in the Committee’s deliberation in respect of Options to be granted to him.
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The Options granted under the ESOS Scheme may have exercised prices that are, at the Remuneration
Committee’s discretion, set at a price (the “Market Price”) equal to the average of the last dealt prices for
the Shares on the Official List of the SGX-ST for the five consecutive Market Days immediately preceding
the relevant date of grant of the relevant Option; or at a discount to the Market Price (subject to a maximum
discount of 20 per cent). Options which are fixed at the Market Price (“Market Price Option”) may
be exercised after the first anniversary of the date of grant of that Option while Options exercisable at a
discount to the Market Price (“Discounted Option”) may only be exercised after the second anniversary from
the date of grant of the Option. Under no circumstances shall the exercise price be less than the normal
value of a Share.
Under the rules of the ESOS, there are no fixed periods for the grant of Options. As such, offers for
the grant of Options may be made at any time from time to time at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee. However, no Option shall be granted during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
date of announcement of our Company’s interim or final results (as the case may be). In addition, in the
event that an announcement on any matter of an exceptional nature involving unpublished price sensitive
information, offers may only be made after the second Market Day from the date on which the aforesaid
announcement is made.
Since the approval by the Shareholders on 23 March 2005, no Options have been granted under the ESOS
Scheme.
There were no shares issued during the financial period by virtue of the exercise of options to take up
unissued shares of the Company during the financial period.
There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at the end of the financial period.

Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee
Details of the Company’s audit committee, nominating committee and remuneration committee are set out
in the Statement of Corporate Governance on pages 21 to 34 of this annual report.

Directors’ Interests In Contracts
Except for the transactions disclosed in Note 30, Related Party Transactions, no director received or
became entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation
with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial
financial interest.

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

soy+you

37

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Auditors
Grant Thornton, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong have expressed their willingness to accept
reappointment.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Grant Thornton, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong for re-appointment as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

Use of Proceeds
The Company had issued RMB2,000,000,000 US dollar settled zero coupon convertible bonds at 100%
of principal amount to UBS AG on 27 July 2007. Up to 31 December 2008, the Group had utilised the
proceeds, in line with their offering circular dated 24 July 2007, as follow:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

RMB60.0 million was utilised for the purchase of land;
approximately RMB83.1 million was utilised for the purchase of fixed assets;
approximately RMB76.1 million was utilised for the expansion of marketing network for Soy
Oligosaccharide Syrup (“SOS”) and Soybean peptide; and
approximately RMB21.2 million was utilised for the research and development activities for SOS and
Ditang.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Zhuping
Director

Zhou Yan’An
Director

11 March 2009
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We, Li Zhuping and Zhou Yan’An, being two of the directors of the Company, do hereby state that, in the
opinion of the directors:
(i)

the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group, and balance
sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company together with the notes thereto as set
out on pages 42 to 82, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the results of the business of the Group,
and changes in equity of the Company and of the Group and cash flows of the Group for the year
then ended; and

(ii)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able
to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The board of directors authorised these financial statements for issue on 11 March 2009.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Zhuping
Director

Zhou Yan’An
Director

11 March 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

To the members of Pine Agritech Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pine Agritech Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 82, which comprise the company and consolidated
balance sheets as at 31 December 2008, and consolidated income statement, the company and
consolidated statements of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Their opinion on these financial
statements is set out on page 39.
The directors' responsibility for the financial statements includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Grant Thornton
Certified Public Accountants
13th Floor, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong
11 March 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

Notes

Revenue

5

1,439,223

1,619,582

(1,096,344)

(966,662)

342,879

652,920

29,837

23,946

Selling and distribution expenses

(49,831)

(72,331)

Administrative expenses

(27,114)

(24,457)

Other operating expenses

(10,070)

(11,317)

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income

5

Finance costs

8

(94,917)

(39,314)

Profit before income tax

7

190,784

529,447

Income tax expense

9

(7,992)

(93,983)

182,792

435,464

–

84,000

- Basic

RMB0.06

RMB0.15

- Diluted

N/A

N/A

Profit for the year

42

Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

Dividends

10

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company during the year

11
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2008

Notes

Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

Company
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deposits
Land use rights

12
13
14

988,550
4,323
139,362

979,262
8,831
142,970

–
–
–

–
–
–

Investments in subsidiaries

15

–
1,132,235

–
1,131,063

225,988
225,988

225,988
225,988

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Due from a subsidiary
Prepayments and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

16
17
15
18
19

283,658
8,906
–
15,093
2,556,524
2,864,181
3,996,416

252,486
35,817
–
78,307
2,367,926
2,734,536
3,865,599

–
–
2,406,405
776
51
2,407,232
2,633,220

–
–
2,436,988
776
56
2,437,820
2,663,808

23
10

301,408
–
1,534,054
1,835,462

301,408
27,000
1,351,262
1,679,670

301,408
–
294,074
595,482

301,408
27,000
378,023
706,431

5,783

11,376

–

–

20
15

130,668
–
268
136,719

202,353
–
25,797
239,526

8,260
5,243
–
13,503

6,481
4,493
–
10,974

21
22

Total liabilities

1,948,950
75,285
2,024,235
2,160,954

1,854,033
92,370
1,946,403
2,185,929

1,948,950
75,285
2,024,235
2,037,738

1,854,033
92,370
1,946,403
1,957,377

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

3,996,416

3,865,599

2,633,220

2,663,808

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Issued capital
Proposed final dividend
Reserves
Total equity
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Accrued liabilities, other payables
and deposits received
Due to a subsidiary
Income tax payables
Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

Li Zhuping
Director

Zhou Yan’an
Director
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

Group
Convertible
Proposed
bonds
Issued
final
Share Statutory Merger
equity
Retained
capital dividend premium* reserves* reserve*
reserve*
profits*
Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 24) (note 24) (note 24)
Balance at 1 January 2007
Profit for the year

301,408

108,000

327,755

91,213

135,709

–

402,459 1,366,544

–

–

–

–

–

–

435,464

435,464

Total income and expense
for the year

–

–

–

–

–

–

435,464

435,464

Transfer to statutory reserves

–

–

–

48,694

–

–

(48,694)

–

Issue of convertible bonds

–

–

–

–

–

42,662

–

42,662

Final dividend 2006 paid

– (108,000)

–

–

–

–

–

(108,000)

Interim dividend 2007

–

–

–

–

–

–

(57,000)

(57,000)

Proposed final dividend 2007

–

27,000

–

–

–

–

(27,000)

–

301,408

27,000

327,755

139,907

135,709

42,662

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

–

182,792

182,792

Total income and expense
for the year

–

–

–

–

–

–

182,792

182,792

Transfer to statutory reserves

–

–

–

25,414

–

–

(25,414)

–

Final dividend 2007 paid

–

(27,000)

–

–

–

–

–

(27,000)

301,408

–

327,755

165,321

135,709

42,662

Balance at 31 December
2007

Balance at 31 December
2008
*

44

(note 21)

705,229 1,679,670

862,607 1,835,462

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately RMB1,534,054,000 (2007: RMB1,351,262,000)
in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Company

Issued
capital
RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2007

Proposed
final
Share
dividend premium**
RMB’000

Convertible
Retained
bonds
profits/
equity
(accumulated
reserve**
loss)**

RMB’000

RMB’000

(note 24)

(note 21)

RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

301,408

108,000

327,755

–

6,411

743,574

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

85,195

85,195

Total income and expense for the year

–

–

–

–

85,195

85,195

Issue of convertible bonds

–

–

–

42,662

–

42,662

Final dividend 2006 paid

–

(108,000)

–

–

–

(108,000)

Interim dividend 2007

–

–

–

–

(57,000)

(57,000)

Proposed final dividend 2007

–

27,000

–

–

(27,000)

–

301,408

27,000

327,755

42,662

7,606

706,431

Balance at 31 December 2007 and
1 January 2008
Loss for the year

–

–

–

–

(83,949)

(83,949)

Total income and expense for the year

–

–

–

–

(83,949)

(83,949)

Final dividend 2007 paid

–

(27,000)

–

–

–

(27,000)

301,408

–

327,755

42,662

(76,343)

595,482

Balance at 31 December 2008
**

These reserve accounts comprise the Company’s reserves of approximately RMB294,074,000 (2007: RMB378,023,000).
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

Notes

2008
RMB’000

2007
RMB’000

190,784

529,447

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Interest income

5

(18,670)

(17,983)

Interest expense

8

94,917

39,314

Amortisation of land use rights

7

3,608

2,588

Depreciation

7

77,449

48,127

Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment

7

293

736

348,381

602,229

Increase in inventories

(31,172)

(50,655)

Decrease in trade receivables

26,911

218,508

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other receivables

63,214

(62,771)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables

(5,593)

1,197

(71,685)

(2,574)

330,056

705,934

Income taxes paid

(50,606)

(112,019)

Net cash generated from operating activities

279,450

593,915

(78,199)

(298,899)

(4,323)

(8,831)

–

(62,639)

18,670

17,983

(63,852)

(352,386)

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds

–

2,000,000

Convertible bonds issue expenses

–

(43,179)

Dividend paid

(27,000)

(165,000)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities

(27,000)

1,791,821

188,598

2,033,350

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

2,367,926

334,576

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2,556,524

2,367,926

2,556,524

2,367,926

Operating profit before working capital changes

Decrease in accrued liabilities, other payables and deposits
received
Cash generated from operations

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of land use rights
Interest received
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Pine Agritech Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda on 7 September 2004. The registered
office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.
The Company’s shares have been listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST”) since 12 May 2005.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial statements. The Company and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as the “Group” hereafter. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year.
The Group’s operations are principally conducted in the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong
Kong and Macau (the “PRC”). Accordingly, the financial statements have been presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), being the functional and presentation currency of the Company and the Group.
The financial statements on pages 42 to 82 have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), and all applicable individual International Accounting Standards
and Interpretations as originated by the Board of the International Accounting Standards Committee
and adopted by the IASB.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 11 March 2009.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS
In current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new standards, amendment
and interpretations (the “new IFRSs”) issued by IASB and the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (the “IFRIC”) of the IASB, which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s
financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2008.
IFRIC 11

IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IAS 39 (Amended)

Reclassification of Financial Assets

IFRIC 12

Service Concession Arrangements

These new and amended IFRSs had no material impact on how the results and financial position
for the current and prior periods have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment is required.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS (Continued)
2.1

New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
The Group has not early adopted the following IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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IFRS 1

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 4

IFRS 2 (Amended)

Share-based Payment – Amendment relateing to vesting conditions
and cancellations 3

IFRS 3 (Revised)

Business Combinations – Comprehensive revision on applying the
acquisition method 4

IFRS 5 (Amended)

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations –
Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 4

IFRS 7 (Amended)

Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Consequential Amendments
Arising from IAS 32 (revised) 3

IFRS 8

Operating segments 3

IAS 1 (Revised 2007)

Presentation of Financial Statements – Comprehensive revision
including requiring a statement of comprehensive income 3

Amended to IAS 1
(Revised 2008)

Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating
to disclosure of puttable instruments and obligations arising on
liquidation 3

Amended to IAS 1
(Revised 2008)

Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments resulting from
May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 16 (Amended)

Property, Plant and Equipment – Amendments resulting from May
2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 19 (Amended)

Employee Benefits – Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 20 (Amended)

Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance –
Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 3

IAS 23 (Revised)

Borrowing Costs – Comprehensive revision to prohibit immediate
expensing 5

IAS 23 (Amended)

Borrowing Costs – Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 27 (Amended)

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Amendment
relating to cost of an investment on first-time adoption 3

IAS 27 (Revised)

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Consequential
amendments arising from amendments to IFRS 3 4
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS (Continued)
2.1

New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
IAS 27 (Amended)

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Amendments
resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 28 (Amended)

Investments in Associates – Consequential amendments arising
from amendments to IFRS 3 4

IAS 28 (Amended)

Investments in Associates – Amendments resulting from May 2008
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 29 (Amended)

Hyperinflationary Economies – Amendments resulting from May
2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 31 (Amended)

Interests in Joint Ventures – Consequential amendments arising
from amendments to IFRS 3 4

IAS 31 (Amended)

Interests in Joint Ventures – Amendments resulting from May 2008
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 32 (Revised)

Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendments relating to
puttable instruments and obligations arising on liquidation 3

IAS 36 (Amended)

Impairment of Assets – Amendments resulting from May 2008
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 38 (Amended)

Intangible Assets – Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 39 (Amended)

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –
Amendments for eligible hedged items 4

IAS 39 (Amended)

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –
Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements
to IFRSs 3

IAS 40 (Amended)

Investment Property – Amendments resulting from May 2008
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 3

IAS 41 (Amended)

Agriculture – Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 3

IFRIC 13

Customer Loyalty Programmes 1

IFRIC 15

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

IFRIC 16

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 2

IFRIC 17

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 4

IFRIC 18

Transfers of Assets from Customers 6

3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS (Continued)
2.1

New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
Notes:

2.2

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.

2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008.

3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

5

Effective for borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation
is on or after 1 January 2009.

6

Effective for transfer received on or after 1 July 2009.

Among these new standards and interpretations, IAS 1 (revised) is expected to be relevant
to the Group’s financial statements.
Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
This amendment affects the presentation of owner changes in equity and introduces a
statement of comprehensive income. Preparers will have the option of presenting items
of income and expense and components of other comprehensive income either in a single
statement of comprehensive income with subtotals, or in two separate statements (a separate
income statement followed by a statement of other comprehensive income). This amendment
does not affect the financial position or results of the Group but will give rise to additional
disclosures. Management is currently assessing the detailed impact of this amendment on the
Group’s financial statements.
The directors of the Company are currently assessing the impact of the other new standards
and interpretations but are not yet in a position to state whether they would have material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1

Basis of preparation
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.
It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the
financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

3.3

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has
the power to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their
activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are excluded from consolidation from the date that control ceases.
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred.
In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.
The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable at the balance sheet date.

3.4

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, other than Construction In Progress (“CIP”), are stated at
acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to the working condition and location for its intended use.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment, less any estimated residual values, over the following estimated useful lives:
Leasehold buildings

The shorter of the lease terms and 50 years

Plant and machinery

7-10 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

2-5 years

Motor vehicle

5 years

The assets’ estimated residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in the income statement.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.4

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
CIP, which represents buildings under construction, and plant and machinery pending
installation, is stated at cost less any impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs incurred
during the periods of construction, installation and testing. No depreciation is provided on
construction in progress. CIP is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
cost, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

3.5

3.6

Operating leases
(i)

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with
the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. Annual rentals applicable to such
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives received are recognised
in the income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to the income statement in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

(ii)

Leasehold interests in land are up-front payments to acquire the land use right. The
payments are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses, if any. Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the upfront payments over the lease terms and the amortisation is charged to the income
statement.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
weighted average basis and the case of finished goods, comprise direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and applicable
selling expenses.

3.7

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, and demand deposits with
banks.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.8

Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment, land use rights, investments in subsidiaries and balances with
subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing whenever there are indications that the asset’s
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at
cash-generating unit level.
Individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of money
and the risk specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.9

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets include trade receivables, other receivables and cash and bank
balances. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition
depending on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.
All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. When financial assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, directly attributable transaction costs.
Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred. At each balance sheet date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists, the impairment
loss is determined and recognised based on the classification of the asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.9

Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction cost. The Group’s trade and
other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.
At each balance sheet date, loans and receivables are reviewed to determine whether there is
any objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:
(i)

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

(ii)

a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

(iii)

it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

(iv)

significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

(v)

a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is
recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the impairment occurs.
If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a
carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount
of the reversal is recognised in the income statement of the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.10

Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, and convertible bonds. They
are included in balance sheet line items under current liabilities and non-current liabilities.
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All interest related charges are recognised as an expense in
financial costs in the income statement. A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original carrying amount is recognised in
the income statement.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
(i)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

(ii)

Convertible bonds contain an equity component
Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at the option of the
holder, where the number of shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for
as compound financial instruments which contain both a liability component and an
equity component.
Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain both financial liability and equity
components are classified separately into respective liability and equity components
on initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the call option for conversion of
the bond into equity, is included in equity as convertible bonds equity reserve.
The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The equity component will remain in equity until conversion or
redemption of the bond.
When the bond is converted, the convertible bonds equity reserve and the carrying
value of the liability component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the bond is redeemed, the
convertible bonds equity reserve is released directly to retained profits.

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

soy+you

55

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.11

Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Issued capital is determined using the nominal value
of shares that have been issued.
Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from equity (net of
any related income tax benefit) to the extent that they are incremental costs directly attributable
to the equity transaction.

3.12

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
All provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
Contingent liabilities are recognised in the course of the allocation of purchase price to the
assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination. They are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition and subsequently measured at the higher of the amount that
would be recognised in a comparable provision as described above and the amount initially
recognised less any accumulated amortisation, if appropriate.

3.13

Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligation to, or claims from, fiscal
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the balance
sheet date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal
periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement.
PRC corporate income tax is provided at rates applicable to an enterprise in the PRC on
income for financial reporting purpose, adjusted for income and expenses items which are not
assessable or deductible for income tax purposes.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.13

Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arises from
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period the liability is settled or the asset is realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in the income statement, or in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited directly to equity.

3.14

Recognition of revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value for the sales of goods, net of rebates and discounts.
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised as following bases: (i)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the customer, this is usually taken as the time when the goods are
delivered and the customer has accepted the goods; and

(ii)

interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest
method.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.15

Retirement benefits scheme
Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the Group participates in a local
municipal government retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”), whereby a subsidiary of the
Company is required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees
to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the
subsidiary of the Company. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme is
to pay the ongoing required contributions under the Scheme mentioned above. Contributions
under the Scheme are charged to the income statement as incurred. There are no provisions
under the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used to reduce future contributions.

3.16

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only
when the projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is separately identifiable and can be
measured reliably; there is reasonable certainty that the projects are technically feasible; and
the products have commercial value. Product development expenditure which does not meet
these criteria is expensed when incurred.
Deferred development costs are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial
lives of the underlying products of not exceeding 5 years, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.
The research and development costs incurred were charged to the income statement.

3.17

Share-based employee compensation
The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees.
All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation
are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the share
options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions.

58

soy+you

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.17

Share-based employee compensation (Continued)
All share-based compensation is ultimately recognised as an expense in income statement in
full at the grant date when the share options granted vest immediately, with a corresponding
increase in equity. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is
recognised over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of
share options expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are
subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the number of share options expected to
vest differs from previous estimates. No adjustment to expense recognised in prior periods is
made if fewer share options ultimately are exercised than originally vested.
At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
The Group did not grant any share-based compensation during the year and had no unvested
share option as at balance sheet date.

3.18

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.
In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transaction. At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the balance sheet date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in the income statements.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations,
originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been
converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have been translated into RMB at the closing rate
at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been converted into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been dealt with in to the currency translation reserve in equity.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.19

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:
(i)

the party has the ability, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to
control the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

(ii)

the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii)

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a
venturer;

(iv)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent, or a close family member of such an individual, or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

(v)

the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi)

the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the
Group or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.
3.20 Segment reporting
In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the Group has determined that
business segments be presented as the primary reporting format and geographical segments
as the secondary reporting format.
In respect of business segment reporting, unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, land use rights, inventories,
receivables and operating cash, and mainly exclude corporate assets. Segment liabilities
comprise operating liabilities and exclude items such as taxation and corporate borrowings.
Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment, land use rights and
deposits paid for purchases of property, plant and equipment.
In respect of geographical segment reporting, revenue is based on the country in which the
customer is located and total assets and capital expenditure are where the assets are located.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(i)

Depreciation and amortisation
The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment and amortises prepaid land
lease payments in accordance with the accounting policies stated in note 3.4 and note 3.5
respectively. The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’estimate of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets.

(ii)

Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management reassesses the estimations at the balance sheet date.

(iii)

Impairment of receivables
The Group’s management assess the collectibility of receivables. This estimate is based on the
credit history of its customers and the current market condition. Management reassesses the
impairment loss of receivables at the balance sheet date.

(iv)

Valuation of convertible bonds
On initial recognition date, the fair value of the liability component of convertible bonds that
are not traded in an active market is determined by using discounted cash flow method. The
Group uses its judgement to make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the issue date. Details of the key assumptions are disclosed in note 21.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
(i)

Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provision
in the period in which such determination is made.
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5.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, and trade discounts, and after elimination
of all significant intra-group transactions.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows:
Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000
Revenue
Sales of goods

1,439,223

1,619,582

Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost

18,670

17,983

Others

11,167

5,963

29,837

23,946

Other income

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary reporting format – business segments
The Group is principally engaged in the single business segment of trading and manufacturing of
soybean-based products. Accordingly, the revenue, profit and assets of the Group are derived from
the single business segment.
Secondary reporting format – geographic segments
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by location of customers, irrespective of
the origin of the goods and services.
Sales revenue by geographical markets:
Group

PRC
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2008
RMB’000

2007
RMB’000

1,196,407

1,537,221

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and capital expenditures,
analysed by the geographical areas in which the assets are located.
Segment assets
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000
PRC

7.

3,985,616

3,856,680

Capital expenditures
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000
82,522

370,369

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
Profit before income tax is arrived after charging:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Cost of inventories sold
Amortisation of land use rights*
Depreciation

866,458

828,211

3,608

2,588

77,449

48,127

770

770

1,952

5,161

12,473

10,581

293

736

38,415

49,511

Minimum lease payment under operating leases:
- production facilities
Exchange loss, net
Research and development costs
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment
Staff costs (included directors remuneration (note 31))
Less: defined contribution scheme
amount included in research and development costs
Staff cost: Wages and salaries
*

(5,874)

(6,157)

(307)

(8,080)

32,234

35,274

Amortisation of land use rights of approximately RMB2,951,000 (2007: RMB1,931,000) and RMB657,000 (2007:
RMB657,000) has been charged to cost of sales and administrative expenses respectively.

The independent auditors did not receive any fee for non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2008.
For the year ended 31 December 2007, the independent auditors received non-audit fees of approximately RMB867,000 for
professional services rendered in connection with the issue of RMB2,000 million US dollars settled zero coupon convertible
bonds (note 21) by the Company. Saved as disclosed above, no other non-audit fees were paid to the auditors by the Group
or the Company in last year.
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8.

FINANCE COSTS
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Interest charges on financial liabilities stated at amortised cost:
Convertible bonds

9.

94,917

39,314

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000
Current tax
The PRC
- Income tax
- Withholding tax
- Withholding tax overprovided for year 2007

Deferred tax (note 22)
Total income tax expense

37,577

88,553

–

12,500

(12,500)

–

25,077

101,053

(17,085)

(7,070)

7,992

93,983

In accordance with various approval documents issued by the State Tax Bureau and the Local Tax
Bureau of the PRC, Linyi Shansong Biological Products Co., Ltd. (“Linyi Shansong”), the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise (“WOFE”) in the PRC, is
exempted from the state and local corporate income tax for the first two profitable financial years of
its operations starting from the financial year ended 31 December 2004, and thereafter is entitled to
a 50% relief from the state corporate income tax and exempted from the local corporate income tax
of the PRC for the following three financial years (the “Tax Holiday”).
Pursuant to the PRC enterprise income tax law passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress
on 16 March 2007, the new enterprise income tax rates for domestic and foreign enterprises were
unified at 25% and became effective from 1 January 2008. Subsequent to 16 March 2007, the
implementation measure on transitional policy of preferential tax rate was announced and the Group’s
entitlement to the Tax Holiday and 50% relief is still applicable. Accordingly, the applicable income
tax rate of the PRC subsidiary was 25% (2007: 33%) for the year. According to the implementation
rules, a reduced withholding rate of 10% will be imposed on dividends distributed to foreign investors,
unless a lower rate applies for tax-treaty countries.
The taxable profits of Linyi Shansong are then subject to corporate income tax at 12.5% (after the
50% relief from the normal rate of 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2008. Upon expiry of the
Tax Holiday on 31 December 2008, a unified income tax rate of 25% is applicable to Linyi Shansong.

64

soy+you

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Tax has not been provided by the Company as the Company did not derive any assessable profits
during the year (2007: nil).
A reconciliation of the expected tax expense with the tax actual expense charged to the income
statement is presented below:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Profit before income tax
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%)
Effect of different tax rate in other jurisdictions
Non-taxable income
Non-deductible expenses
Tax Holiday of a WOFE of the Group
Withholding tax (overprovided for prior year)/on dividend received by
a subsidiary for year 2007

10.

190,784

529,447

47,696
7,072
(5,525)
3,378
(32,129)

174,717
6,581
(1,625)
8,074
(106,264)

(12,500)
7,992

12,500
93,983

2008
RMB’000

2007
RMB’000

DIVIDENDS

Proposed final dividend
- RMB Nil per share (2007: RMB0.009 per share)
Interim dividend
- RMB Nil per share (2007: RMB0.019 per share)

–

27,000

–
–

57,000
84,000

Dividends recognised as distributions during the year ended 31 December 2008 amounted to
RMB27,000,000 (2007: RMB165,000,000) or RMB0.009 per ordinary share (2007: RMB0.055 per
ordinary share).

11.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately RMB182,792,000 (2007: RMB435,464,000) and on 3,000,000,000 (2007:
3,000,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Diluted earnings per share was not presented because the impact of the exercise of convertible
bonds was anti-dilutive.
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12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Plant and and office
buildings machinery equipment
RMB’000

RMB’000

RMB’000

190,135

340,031

820

Motor
vehicle

Construction
in progress

Total

RMB’000

RMB’000

RMB’000

At 1 January 2007
Cost

–

267,592

798,578

Accumulated depreciation

(16,068)

(55,967)

(445)

–

–

(72,480)

Net book amount

174,067

284,064

375

–

267,592

726,098

174,067

284,064

375

–

267,592

726,098

Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount
Additions

54

38,731

93

2,284

260,865

302,027

Transfers

111,792

146,593

–

–

(258,385)

–

Disposals

(7)

(728)

(1)

–

–

(736)

Depreciation charge

(9,893)

(37,897)

(156)

(181)

–

(48,127)

276,013

430,763

311

2,103

270,072

979,262

Cost

301,972

524,159

908

2,284

270,072

1,099,395

Accumulated depreciation

(25,959)

(93,396)

(597)

(181)

–

(120,133)

Net book amount

276,013

430,763

311

2,103

270,072

979,262

276,013

430,763

311

2,103

270,072

979,262

Additions

451

42,808

542

–

43,229

87,030

Transfers

127,678

150,762

–

–

(278,440)

–

Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2007 and
1 January 2008

Year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount

Disposals
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

–

(290)

(3)

–

–

(293)

(27,233)

(49,574)

(208)

(434)

–

(77,449)

376,909

574,469

642

1,669

34,861

988,550

430,101

712,706

1,380

2,284

34,861

1,181,332

(53,192)

(138,237)

(738)

(615)

–

(192,782)

376,909

574,469

642

1,669

34,861

988,550

At 31 December 2008
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

The Group’s leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC and are held under medium term leases.
Depreciation charge of approximately RMB76,807,000 (2007: RMB47,790,000) has been included
in cost of sales, approximately RMB642,000 (2007: RMB328,000) in administrative expenses and
approximately RMBNil (2007: RMB9,000) in selling and distribution expenses.

66

soy+you

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
As at 31 December 2008, the leasehold buildings included certain buildings with a net book value
of RMB331 million (2007: RMB245 million) for which the Group is still in the process of obtaining
the building ownership certificates. These buildings with a net book value of RMB173 million
(2007: RMB159 million) are erected on lands for which the relevant land use rights certificates have
been obtained by the Group and with a net book value of RMB158 million (2007: RMB86 million)
are erected on lands for which the Group is still in the process of obtaining the land use rights
certificates. As confirmed by the Group’s legal advisors and in the opinion of the directors, the Group
has obtained the right to use these buildings.

13.

DEPOSITS
The amount represented the Group’s deposits paid for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment.

14.

LAND USE RIGHTS
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
At beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

150,584

87,945

(7,614)

(5,026)

142,970

82,919

142,970

82,919

–

62,639

For the year
Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation
Closing net book amount

(3,608)

(2,588)

139,362

142,970

150,584

150,584

(11,222)

(7,614)

139,362

142,970

At end of year
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

The Group’s land use rights included leasehold interests in land located in the PRC with lease terms
expiring on year 2027 to 2057.
As at 31 December 2008, the land use rights included a net book value of approximately RMB109
million (2007: RMB111 million) for which the Group is still in the process of obtaining the land use
rights certificates. As confirmed by the Group’s legal advisors and in the opinion of the directors, the
Group has obtained the right to use the land legally by way of such acquisition. Once the Group has
obtained all relevant certificates, the Group has the right to assign, lease or mortgage the land.
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15.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Unlisted shares, at cost

225,988

225,988

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of
Nominal value of
incorporation/
issued ordinary/
establishment paid-up registered
and operations
share capital

Percentage
of equity
attributable to
the Company

Principal
activities

Direct Indirect
Rainbow Palace Inc.
(“Rainbow Palace”)

British Virgin
Islands

US$1

100

–

Linyi Shansong
Biological Products
Co., Ltd.*

PRC

US$217,770,000
(2007:
US$172,770,000)

–

100

*

Investment
holding
Manufacture and
sale of soybean
products

On 6 September 2007, the registered capital of Linyi Shansong was increased from US$268,890,000 to
US$365,780,000. As at 31 December 2008, US$217,770,000 of the total registered capital of Linyi Shansong has
been paid-up and the Group therefore had an outstanding investment commitment of US$148,010,000 (approximately
RMB1,010,538,000) in the subsidiary.

The financial statements of the above subsidiaries are audited by Grant Thornton, Hong Kong for the
purpose of the Group consolidation of Pine Agritech Limited.

16.

INVENTORIES
Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

68

Raw materials

144,125

192,603

Finished goods

139,533

59,883

283,658

252,486
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17.

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Ageing analysis of trade receivables that are not impaired is as follows:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Neither past due nor impaired

7,218

35,058

1 – 30 days past due

708

728

31 – 60 days past due

933

1

47

30

1,688

759

8,906

35,817

60 – 180 days past due

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.
The Group’s management considers that trade receivables that are past due but not impaired for
each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

18.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
2008
RMB’000
Prepayments
Other receivables

2007
RMB’000

Company
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

930

60,706

776

776

14,163

17,601

–

–

15,093

78,307

776

776

The Group’s management considers that other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

19.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
As at 31 December 2008, the Group had cash and bank balances denominated in RMB amounting
to approximately RMB2,551,757,000 (2007: RMB2,361,407,000) which were deposited with banks in
the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the PRC Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through the banks that
are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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20.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED
Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000
Accrued liabilities

36,815

50,105

1,065

1,065

Other payables

88,189

66,339

7,195

5,416

5,664

85,909

–

–

130,668

202,353

8,260

6,481

Deposits received

21.

Company
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Group and Company
Pursuant to an offering circular of the Company dated 24 July 2007 (the “Offering Circular”), the
Company issued RMB2,000,000,000 US dollars settled zero coupon convertible bonds (the
“Convertible Bonds”) at 100% of principal amount to UBS AG on 27 July 2007. The Convertible
Bonds were issued in denomination of RMB100,000 each or integral multiples thereof.
The Convertible Bonds, at the option of the bondholder, are convertible on or after 6 September
2007 up to the close of business on 20 July 2012 into fully paid ordinary shares with a par value of
S$0.02 each of the Company at an initial conversion price of S$0.9815 per shares. Unless previously
redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled, the Company will redeem the Convertible Bonds
at an amount equal to the US dollar equivalent of its RMB principle amount multiplied by 118.36 per
cent. on 27 July 2012 (the “Maturity Date”).
The Company will, at the option of the bondholder, redeem all and not some only of such
bondholder’s bond on 27 July 2010. On giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, the
Company may at any time after 27 July 2010 and prior to 27 July 2012 redeem all and not some
only of the Convertible Bonds for the time being outstanding. The Company may at any time prior
to the Maturity Date redeem all and not some only of the Convertible Bonds for the time being
outstanding provided that prior to the date of such notice at least 90 per cent, in principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds originally issued has already been converted, redeemed or purchased and
cancelled.
The Convertible Bonds may also be redeemed at the option of holders upon the Company’s shares
ceasing to be listed on the SGX-ST or the occurrence of a change of control.
Further details of the terms and conditions regarding the issue of the Convertible Bonds have been
set out in the Offering Circular.
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21.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
The Convertible Bonds recognised in the balance sheet were calculated as follows:
Group and Company
Liability
Equity
component component
RMB’000
RMB’000
Net carrying amounts on initial recognition
Interest expense
Net carrying amounts at 31 December 2007
Interest expense
Net carrying amounts at 31 December 2008

1,814,719

42,662

39,314

–

1,854,033

42,662

94,917

–

1,948,950

42,662

During the year ended 31 December 2008 and subsequent to the balance sheet date, no Convertible
Bonds were converted into ordinary shares of the Company.
Interest expense of approximately RMB94,917,000 (2007: RMB39,314,000) has been recognised in
the income statement in respect of the Convertible Bonds for the year ended 31 December 2008 is
calculated using the effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of 5 percent to
the liability component.

22.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The movement on the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:
Group and Company
Convertible Bonds
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000
At 1 January

92,370

–

–

99,440

Deferred tax credited to income statement during the year.

(17,085)

(7,070)

At 31 December

75,285

92,370

Deferred tax recognised upon issuance of Convertible Bonds

At the balance sheet date, deferred tax liabilities amounted to RMB22,873,000 (2007: Nil) in respect
of the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of a
subsidiary have not been recognised. No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of
these differences because the Group is in a position to control the dividend policies of its subsidiary
and it is probable that such differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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23.

SHARE CAPITAL
2008
RMB’000

2007
RMB’000

502,800

502,800

2008
RMB’000

2007
RMB’000

301,408

301,408

Authorised :
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of S$0.02 each

Issued and fully paid :
3,000,000,000 (2008: 3,000,0000,000) ordinary shares of S$0.02
each

24.

RESERVES
Share premium
Under the bye-laws of the Company, the share premium account is not distributable.
Statutory reserves
In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and the articles of association of
Linyi Shansong, a subsidiary of the Company established as WOFE, Linyi Shansong is required to
transfer 10% of its profit after tax prepared in accordance with the accounting regulations in the PRC
to the statutory reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered capital. Such reserve
may be used to reduce any losses incurred or to be capitalised as paid-up capital.
Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the then consolidated net assets
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued in exchange thereof.
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25.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:
(i)

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to provide
returns and benefits for stakeholders;

(ii)

To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

(iii)

To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital
structure and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the
Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash flows,
projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The Group currently
does not adopt any formal dividend policy.
The Group sets the amount of equity capital in proportion to its overall financing structure. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.
The capital-to-overall financing ratio at balance sheet date was as follows:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Capital
Total equity
Convertible bonds – equity components

1,835,462

1,679,670

(42,662)

(42,662)

1,792,800

1,637,008

1,991,612

1,896,695

0.90

0.86

Overall financing
Convertible bonds – equity and liability components
Capital-to overall financing ratio
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26.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following outstanding capital commitments:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
(a)

Contracted, but not provided for, in respect of acquisition of :
Plant and machinery

(b)

8,233

18,252

–

–

Authorised, but not contracted for, in respect of acquisition of :
Plant and machinery

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company did not have any capital
commitments as at 31 December 2007 and 2008.

27.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(a)

Group as lessee
As at 31 December 2008, the total future minimum lease payments of the Group under noncancellable operating leases for production facilities are as follows:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
Later than five years

300

300

1,200

400

400

–

1,900

700

The Group leases a production plant under operating leases arrangements which run for initial
periods of 10 years, without an option to renew the lease terms at the expiry date. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals.

74

soy+you

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

27.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b)

Group as lessor
As at 31 December 2008, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts under noncancellable operating leases on hand as follows:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Within one year

302

302

In the second to fifth years inclusive

1,209

1,209

After five years

3,603

3,905

5,114

5,416

The Group leases out its leasehold lands under operating leases arrangements which run for
initial periods of 20 years, with an option to renew the lease terms at the expiry date. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals (note 30).
The Company did not have any lease commitments as lessee or lessor as at 31 December 2007 and
2008.

28.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the board of
directors meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure
to market risk, including principally changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates, credit
risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk
management. As the Group’s exposure to market risks is kept at a minimum level, the Group has
not used any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or
issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s financial instruments mainly consisted of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, other receivables, trade payables, other payable and convertible bonds.
(i)

Interest rate exposure
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rate.
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28.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(ii)

Foreign currency risk
Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in RMB which is the functional currency of
most of the group entities. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from certain of the
Group’s trade receivables, bank balances and other payables which are denominated in USDollars (“USD”), European Euros (“Euro”), Singapore Dollars (“SGD”) and Hong Kong Dollars
(“HKD”). The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency
risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly and does not consider its
foreign exchange risk to be significant.
Foreign currency risk exposure
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the balance sheet date to foreign currency
risk from the trade receivables and other payables denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Trade receivables denominated in USD

2,037

7,691

Trade receivables denominated in Euro

21

–

Bank balance denominated in USD

2,093

942

Bank balance denominated in SGD

51

55

Bank balance denominated in HKD

1,540

740

Other payables denominated in USD

1,001

–

Other payables denominated in Euro

–

14,306

Other payables denominated in HKD

688

–

Apart from the above, all the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB.
By assessing foreign currency risk on trade receivables, bank balances and other payables,
the effect arising from a reasonably possible change in the exchange rates of Reminbi against
USD, Euro, SGD and HKD in the next twelve months was not material to the profit for the year
and retained profits at each of the balance sheet date, on the basis that all other variables
remain constant.
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28.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(iii)

Credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets
recognised at the balance sheet date, as summarised below:
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000

Company
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

Classes of financial assets –
carrying amounts
Trade receivables
Due from a subsidiary
Other receivables
Cash and bank balances

8,906

35,817

–

–

–

–

2,406,405

2,436,988

7,100

7,628

–

–

2,556,524

2,367,926

51

56

2,572,530

2,411,371

2,406,456

2,437,044

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and cash and
bank balances. The management has a credit policy and the exposures to credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.
The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial position. Provision for
impairment is based upon a review of the expected collectability of all receivables.
The Group’s cash and bank balances are mainly deposits with state-owned banks and jointstock commercial banks in the PRC. As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s bank balance
has a significant amount concentrated in one of the state-owned bank and two joint-stock
commercial banks in the PRC of approximately RMB1,892,757,000 (2007: RMB2,340,787,000)
and RMB625,446,000 (2007: Nil) respectively.
(iv)

Fair values
The fair values of the Group’s current financial assets and liabilities are not materially different
from their carrying amounts because of the immediate or short term maturity of these financial
instruments. The fair value of long-term liabilities was not disclosed because the carrying value
is not materially different from the fair value.
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28.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(v)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to ensure adequate funds to meet commitments associated with its
financial liabilities. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group will raise
funds from the realisation of its assets if required.
As at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, the remaining contractual maturities of the
Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities which are based on undiscounted cash flows
are summarised below:
The Group

On
demand
RMB’000

Less than
3 months
RMB’000

3 to less
than 12
months
RMB’000

Over
1 year
RMB’000

At 31 December 2008
- Trade payables

–

5,783

–

–

- Other payables

1,564

86,564

–

–

–

–

–

2,367,200

1,564

92,347

–

2,367,200

- Trade payables

–

11,376

–

–

- Other payables

8,710

46,206

4,600

–

–

–

–

2,367,200

8,710

57,582

4,600

2,367,200

- Convertible bonds

At 31 December 2007

- Convertible bonds
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28.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(v)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The Company

On demand
RMB’000

Less than
3 months
RMB’000

3 to less
than 12
months
RMB’000

- Due to a subsidiary

5,243

–

–

–

- Other payables

7,196

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,367,200

12,439

–

–

2,367,200

- Due to a subsidiary

4,493

–

–

–

- Other payables

5,416

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,367,200

9,909

–

–

2,367,200

Over
1 year
RMB’000

At 31 December 2008

- Convertible bonds

At 31 December 2007

- Convertible bonds

As at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, most of the bank balances and cash were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the international market.
The exchange rate of RMB is determined by the PRC government and the remittance of
these RMB funds out of the PRC is subject to foreign exchange controls imposed by the PRC
government.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

29.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at 31 December
2008 had categorised as follows. See note 3.9 and 3.10 for explanations about how the category of
financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.
Financial assets
Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

Company
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

Current assets
Loans and receivables
- Trade and other receivables

16,006

43,445

–

–

- Due from a subsidiary

–

–

2,406,405

2,436,988

Cash and bank balance

2,556,524

2,367,926

51

56

2,572,530

2,411,371

2,406,456

2,437,044

Financial liabilities
Group

Company
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

2008
RMB’000

2007
RMB’000

93,911

70,892

7,196

5,416

–

–

5,243

4,493

1,948,950

1,854,033

1,948,950

1,854,033

2,042,861

1,924,925

1,961,389

1,863,942

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
- Trade and other payables
- Due to a subsidiary
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
- Convertible bonds (liability component)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

30.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

Trading transaction
During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Note

(b)

Group
2008
2007
RMB’000
RMB’000

Sales of products to People’s Food Group

(i)

482,823

314,501

Rental income from People’s Food Group

(ii)

302

302

Supply of electricity, water and gas from
People’s Food Group

(iii)

68,943

24,456

(i)

The sales to People’s Food Holdings Limited (“People’s Food”) and its subsidiaries (the
“People’s Food Group”) were approximately RMB482,823,000 (2007: RMB314,501,000)
for the year. People’s Food is a beneficial shareholder of the Company. The sales were
made with reference to the terms negotiated between the two parties.

(ii)

During the year, the Group entered into two lease agreements with People’s Food
Group in respect of leasing two pieces of leasehold land from the Group for a period of
20 years with effect from 1 December 2005 for an aggregated annual lease income of
approximately RMB302,000. The rental was made according to the terms of the lease
agreements.

(iii)

During the year, People’s Food Group has supplied electricity, water and gas to the
Group. The charge was made with reference to the terms agreed between the two
parties.

Compensation of key management personnel
Group
2007
2008
RMB’000
RMB’000
Total remuneration of directors and other members of
key management during the year
- short-term employee benefits

2,864
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

31.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2007 and 2008, the remuneration of the directors of the Company
analysed into the following bands is disclosed in compliance with rule 1207.11 of Chapter 12 of the
Listing Manual of SGX-ST:
For the year ended 31 December 2008
Executive
directors

Non-executive
directors

Total

Below S$250,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,186,000)

2

3

5

Total

2

3

5

Executive
directors

Non-executive
directors

Total

Below S$250,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,264,000)

1

3

4

S$250,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB2,528,00
and above)

1

–

1

Total

2

3

5

For the year ended 31 December 2007

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Major non-cash transactions
During the year, deposits of approximately RMB8,831,000 (2007: RMB3,128,000) paid in last year for
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment were capitalised as property, plant and equipment.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 6 MARCH 2009

Shareholders’ Information
Authorised Share Capital
:
Issued and fully paid-up capital :
Class of shares
:

S$5,000,000,000.00
S$60,000,000.00
Ordinary shares of S$0.02 each with equal voting rights

Distribution of Shareholdings
No. of
Size of Shareholdings
1

-

999

1,000

-

10,001

-

Shareholders

%

6

0.16

10,000

1,351

1,000,000

2,375

%

1,412

0.00

35.85

10,066,990

0.34

63.01

136,018,000

4.53

37

0.98

2,853,913,598

95.13

3,769

100.00

3,000,000,000

100.00

1,000,001 and above
Total

No. of Shares

Twenty Largest Shareholders
No.

Name

No. of Shares

%

1

Loampit Limited

1,102,500,000

36.75

2

Citibank Nominees S’pore Pte Ltd

409,233,000

13.64

3

HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd

297,984,000

9.93

4

Elite Union Corporation

292,500,000

9.75

5

Achievement Way Corporation

137,500,000

4.58

6

Pi Yanbin

132,001,000

4.40

7

UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd

126,904,000

4.23

8

Vision Eagle Assets Limited

104,370,000

3.48

9

OCBC Securities Private Ltd

74,785,000

2.49

10

Lu Weixia

65,999,000

2.20

11

Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd

16,361,985

0.55

12

DBS Nominees Pte Ltd

13,427,144

0.45

13

DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd

13,100,000

0.44

14

Xu Hongjun

10,830,000

0.36

15

DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd

7,838,000

0.26

16

DBSN Services Pte Ltd

5,771,000

0.19

17

Morgan Stanley Asia (S’pore) Securities Pte Ltd

5,000,000

0.17

18

Phillip Securities Pte Ltd

4,957,000

0.17

19

DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd

3,458,000

0.12

20

Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd

3,284,000

0.11

2,827,803,129

94.27

Total
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 6 MARCH 2009

Substantial Shareholders
(as defined under the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50)
As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest
Number of Shares
1

Loampit Limited

Elite Union Corporation2

%

Number of Shares

%

–

–

1,102,500,000

36.75

1,102,500,000

36.75

–

–

329,000,000

10.97

–

–

–

–

1,102,500,000

36.75

–

–

329,000,000

10.97

PFH

3

Deemed Interest

Maleque Limited1
2

Li Zhuping
Notes:(1)

Ming Kam Sing is appointed to the board of the Company as a nominee director of PFH. He is also the Chairman and
Executive Director of PFH. Ming Kam Sing holds 65% interest in Maleque Limited which holds 46.41% of PFH. PFH holds the
entire interest of our substantial shareholder, Loampit Limited.

(2)

Elite Union Corporation is a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-owned by Li Zhuping, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer. Li Zhuping is deemed to have an interest in all the Shares held by Elite Union Corporation.

(3)

Loampit Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-owned by PFH, a company which shares are listed on the
SGX-ST and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. PFH is deemed to have an interest in all the Shares held by Loampit
Limited.

Percentage of Shareholding in Public’s Hands
52.28% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied
with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Pine Agritech Limited (the “Company”) will
be held at Traders Hotel, Singapore, Temasek II, 1A Cuscaden Road, Singapore 249716 on Wednesday, 22
April 2009 at 9.30 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2008 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2.

(a)

To re-elect Mr Zhou Yan’An, a Director retiring pursuant to Bye-Law 104 of the Company’s
Bye-Laws.
(Resolution 2a)

(b)

To re-elect Mr Ong Tiong Seng, a Director retiring pursuant to Bye-Law 104 of the Company’s
Bye-Laws. [See Explanatory Note (i)]
(Resolution 2b)

3.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$150,000 for the financial year ending 31 December
2009, to be paid quarterly in arrears at S$37,500 per quarter. (2008 : S$150,000)
(Resolution 3)

4.

To re-appoint Messrs Grant Thornton, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong as the Company’s
Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
(Resolution 4)

5.

To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without
modifications:
6.

“That pursuant to Rule 806 of the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:
1.

2.

(i)

issue shares in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) (whether by way of rights,
bonus or otherwise); and/or

(ii)

make or grant offers, agreements or options that may or would require Shares to be
issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments
to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares (collectively, the
“Instruments”),

(notwithstanding that the authority conferred by paragraph 1 of this resolution may have
ceased to be in force) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the
Directors while this resolution was in force,
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at any time and from time to time upon such terms and conditions, whether for cash or otherwise,
and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may think fit for the benefit of the
Company, provided that:

86

a.

the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including shares to
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) does not
exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares
of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph b. below), of which the
aggregate number of Shares to be offered other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of
the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted
pursuant to this resolution) does not exceed twenty per cent. (20%) of the total number of
issued Shares excluding treasury shares of the Company (as calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph b. below);

b.

for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued
under sub-paragraph a. above, the percentage of the total number of issued
Shares excluding treasury shares shall be calculated based on the total number of issued
Shares excluding treasury shares of the Company at the time of the passing of this resolution,
after adjusting for:
(i)

new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(ii)

new Shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards
outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this resolution, provided the
options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST; and

(iii)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

c.

the fifty per cent. (50%) limit under sub-paragraph a. above, may be increased to one hundred
per cent. (100%) where the Company undertakes a pro-rata renounceable rights issue;

d.

in exercising the authority conferred by this resolution, the Company shall comply with the
provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the memorandum of association and Byelaws for the time being of the Company; and

e.

unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred by this
resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required to
be held, whichever is the earlier, except that the Directors shall be authorised to allot and issue
Shares pursuant to any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this resolution was
in force notwithstanding that such authority has ceased to be in force at the time of issue of
(Resolution 5)
such Shares.” [See Explanatory Note (ii)].
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7.

“That subject to and pursuant to the share issue mandate in Resolution 5 above being obtained,
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to issue new shares other than
on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company at an issue price per new share which shall be
determined by the Directors in their absolute discretion provided that such price shall not represent a
more than a twenty per cent. (20%) discount to the weighted average price per share determined in
accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST.” [See Explanatory Note (iii)].
(Resolution 6)

8.

“That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant options in
accordance with the provisions of the Pine Agritech Employee Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”) and
to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be
required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options under the Scheme provided always that
the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed fifteen per
cent. (15%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company from time
to time.” [See Explanatory Note (iv)].
(Resolution 7)

9.

“That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (“Chapter 9”) of the SGX-ST:
1.

approval be and is hereby given for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies
that are considered to be “entities at risk” under Chapter 9, or any of them, to enter into any
of the transactions falling within the types of interested person transactions described in the
Appendix to the Annual Report for the financial year 2008 (the “Appendix”) with any party who
is of the class of interested persons described in the Appendix, provided that such transactions
are made on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures for such
interested person transactions (the “Mandate”);

2.

the approval given in paragraph (1) above shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in
general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company; and

3.

the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts
and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider
expedient or necessary or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the Mandate and/or
this Resolution.” [See Explanatory Note (v)].
(Resolution 8)

By Order of the Board

Chan Oi Chong
Secretary
Singapore, 30 March 2009
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Explanatory Notes:
(i)

Mr Ong Tiong Seng, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, Nominating Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. Mr Ong Tiong Seng is an independent Director.

(ii)

The Ordinary Resolution 5 proposed in item 6. above, if passed, is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of
the Company and/or instruments (as defined above). The aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to Resolution
5 (including shares to be issued in pursuance of instruments made or granted) shall not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the
total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, with a sub-limit of twenty per cent. (20%) for shares
issued other than on a pro rata basis (including shares to be issued in pursuance of instruments made or granted pursuant to
this Resolution) to shareholders with registered addresses in Singapore. The Company may increase the limit to one hundred
per cent. (100%) where it undertakes a pro-rata renounceable rights issue. For the purpose of determining the aggregate
number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the
Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company at the
time of the passing of Resolution 5, after adjusting for (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible
securities; (ii) new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the
time of the passing of Resolution 5, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.
The allotment and issuance of shares in the Company up to one hundred per cent. (100%) of its issued capital by way of a
pro-rata renounceable rights issue is a new measure introduced by the Singapore Exchange Limited, in consultation with the
Monetary Authority of Singapore, on 20 February 2009 to accelerate and facilitate listed issuers’ fund raising efforts and will be
in effect until 31 December 2010.
The aforesaid mandate to issue up to one hundred per cent. (100%) of the Company’s issued capital is conditional upon the
Company:
(a)

making periodic announcements on the use of the proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed; and

(b)

providing a status on the use of proceeds in the annual report.

This mandate, if passed, will provide the Directors with an opportunity to raise funds and avoid prolonged market exposure by
reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the event the need arises. Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated
as all shareholders have equal opportunities to participate and can dispose their entitlements through trading nil-paid rights if
they do not wish to subscribe for their rights shares.
(iii)

The Ordinary Resolution 6 proposed in item 7. above, if passed, is to authorise the Directors to allot and issue new shares on
a non pro-rata basis at a discount not exceeding twenty per cent. (20%). This authority will continue in force until the next
Annual General Meeting.

(iv)

The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 8. above, if passed, is to authorise the Directors to offer and grant options in
accordance with the provisions of the Pine Agritech Employee Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”) and to allot and issue shares
under the Scheme up to an amount not exceeding fifteen per cent. (15%) of the total number of issued shares excluding
treasury shares of the Company from time to time.

(v)

The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 9. above, if passed, is to empower the Directors of the Company to continue to
enter into interested person transactions, on the Group’s normal commercial terms and in accordance with the guidelines and
procedures of the Company for interested person transactions as described in the Appendix to Shareholders dated 30 March
2009. This authority will continue in force until the next Annual General Meeting.

Notes:
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1.

If a shareholder being a Depositor (who is not a natural person) whose name appears in the Depository Register (as defined
in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore) wishes to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, then
it should complete the Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Proxy Form at the office of the Singapore Share Transfer
Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 3 Church Street, #08-01 Samsung Hub, Singapore 049483,
at least 48 hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting. A Depositor who is a natural person need not complete the
Proxy Form if he/she intends to attend in person.

2.

If a Depositor/shareholder wishes to appoint a proxy/proxies, then the Proxy Form must be deposited at the office of the
Singapore Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 3 Church Street, #08-01 Samsung
Hub, Singapore 049483, at least 48 hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting.

soy+you

PINE AGRITECH LIMITED Annual Report 2008

a well-balanced

SOYBEAN OIL
Vitamin E
Phytosterols
Functionality
Omega-3 Fatty Acids
Versatile & Affordable
Nutritionally Balanced

Nourish your body
with all natural soy.

Eat

Live

healthy.
healthy.

Bancheng Town, Lanshan District, Linyi City, Shandong Province, People’s Republic of China, 276036
Tel. (86) 539 297 7593 • Fax. (86) 539 297 7259 • www.pineagritechlimited.com • Company Registration No. 35792
Pine Agritech Limited

